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on the end of the c6acJJes wJJicb were being pushed forward and which
killed Wagley; that there was DO employe of the railroad company
there; that thistrain,going at the rate of fouror five miles an hom?,
made very little noise; that the night was dark; and that there
an absence of light. We find no error in record, and the judg-
ment of the lower court is therefore affirmed.

UNIl'ED STATES v. YOUTSEY.
(Circuit Court,· D. Kentucky. March 19, 1898.)

1. NA'l'IONAt1 BANKS--CRIMINiL OFFENSES BY OFFICERS-EMBEZZLEMENT, AB-
STRACTION, AND MISAPPLICATION OF FUNDS.
Evidence, Introduced .... un!ler an Indictment against the cashier of a

national bank abstraction, and willful misapplication
of notes of a bank, under section 5209, Rev. St., tended to show that
the cashier had procUred the making of four notes, for $15,000 each,
by four different persons, who were insolvent; had discounted the notes,
after attaching to themsttilck In land companies, belonging to the cashier,
either worthless or worth only a small percentage of Its par value and of
the amount payable on the notes; had put the proceeds of the discounts
to the credit of the 'Insolvent makers of the notes on the books of the
bank; had taken checks the respective amounts from such makers;
and, after depositing to his own account, had used the proceeds to
take up hjsown notelland, those of another upon which he was indirectly
liable, aggregating $60,000. The Indictment charged that
these acts were embezzlement, abstraction, or wlllful abstraction with in-
tent to Injure or defraud' the bank, and that the acts were done without
the consent of the board of directors or the exchange committee thereof.
'It appeared that the loans to the cashier and to the other persons whose
notes he thus wlthdrevr frQm the bank were In excess of the 10 per centum
of the capital stock of bank, and that perhaps the chief purpose of
the cashier was to the loan within the legal requirement; and It
was contended that, therefore, the Intent to defraud or Injure the bank,
essential to conviction, was not present. ,Held: (1) Embezzlement Is the
unlawful conversion by an officer to his own use of funds Intrusted to
him, with Intent to Injure or defraud the bank; and that abstraction and
misapplication are conversions of funds of the bank not especially Intrust-
-ed to his care, with like Intent. (2) That It was sufficient, In respect to the
Issue of knowledge andCQnsent by the board of directors, for the govern-
ment to show that neither the board of dlrect6rs as a board, nor the ex-
change committee as a committee, nor a majority of Individuals of either as
Individuals, knew of or consented to the discount of the new notes, or the
substitution of the new notes for the old (If that was the real transaction),
before" the transaction. was a completed one, and before the old notes were
gone from the bank; tha.t the necessity for the averment In the Indictment
was to meet the defense that one cannot steal what Is given him, and
cannot embeZZle that which his principal consents that he may take. (3)
That the crime here charged Iwas not the discounting of bad paper or the
acceptance of worthless secut'ltles; that the Withdrawing of the old notes
from the ban" by means of such discounting and acceptance was not
the crime charged, unless It was accompanied by an Intent to defraud the
bank; that, If the defendant knew that what he did would Injure and
defraud the bank, he was presumed to Intend the natural consequences
of his act; that such presumption would not necessarily be negatived
by proof that he had' another motive, and that his chIef one, In making
It appear to the comptroller that the excessive loans had been reduced,
Jf in fact he knew that what he did would Injure and defraud the bank;
that the Intent to defraud which must be shown Is not necessarily an
Intent to wreck the bank; that it Is only an Intent on the part of the de-
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fendant to Injure the bank by the particular transaction, and may consist
with -a desire on his part generally that the bank shall prosper.

:1\ BAME-FALSEENTRIES-EvIDENCE-E'RAUDULENT INTENT.
It appeared in evidence that defendant summoned a bank clerk to his

house, and directed him to make the books of the bank show a cash re-
serve of $50,000 more than it actually had, because of an expected de-
mand for a statement from the comptroller. Defendant specified certain
entries which he wished to have made, but left $12,000 unprovided for.
The clerk added the $12,000 by a false entry, showing a deposit by a
depositor of something more than that amount the day before. Held: (1)
That a false entry made by a clerk under defendant's direction was
made by the defendant, within the indictment, and that it was for the
jury to say, as to the $12,000, whether the clerk's making it was within
the direction of the defendant.. (2) That proof that entries were false
to the knowledge of the officer making or directing them, that they were
In the usual course to be carried into the report to the comptroller, and
were of a character calculated to deceive the comptroller or his agent as
to the condition of the bank, raised a presumption that tliey were made by
defendant with intent to deceive the comptroller or his agent, though such
presumption was not conclusive.

This was a prOflecution by the United States of Thomas B. Youtsey
for violations of Rev. St. § 5209, as cashier of the First National Bank
of Newport, Ky.
W. M. Smith, U. S. Atty.
Thomas McDougall, R. W. Nelson, E. D. Blinn, and Alfred C. Cas-

satt, for defendant.

TAFT, Oircuit Judge (charging jury). We are nearing the end of a
long trial. The strain upon all of us has been great, but the burden
has fallen most upon you, who, accustomed to active life in the open
air, must have grown weary with the long days of the hearing. I con-
gratulate you that your tedious service is drawing to a close, and I
thank you for the quiet patience and earnest attention which you have
manifested.
By a law of the United States, any persons who comply with certain

requirements therein set out can obtain a charter and establish a nn
tional bank. The primary purpose of the law was to provide the means
by which the government might carryon large fiscal operations. To
secure popular confidence in the banks thus invited into existence, the
law subjects them to the supervision of the head of a government bu-
reau at Washington, called the "Comptroller of the Currency," whose
duty it is to keep a watch upon the conduct of every national bank in
the country; to require reports from time to time of its operations and
condition, sworn to by the officers, who may be presumed to know
them; to send agents of his to make a personal examination of the
books, accounts, cash, and securities of each bank; upon discovering
violations of law in the management of the bank, to take steps to pre-
vent their occurrence; and if such violations are flagrant, and the con-
dition of the bank is insolvent, to appoint a receiver to wind up its af-
fairs in accordance with law. The national banking act lays down
certain rules for the conduct of banks, violations of which are not
punished as crimes, but which it is the duty of the comptroller to en-
force. You are all doubtless sufficiently familiar with the business of
banking to know that it consists chiefly of receiving money on deposit,
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Bubject to check, and of lending out at interest, not only the money
paid in as capital by its stockholders, but also a large part of the
amounts received from its depositors, retaining on hand enough to meet
the checks which the depositors are likely to present in the ordinary
course of business. The amount required to be retained. on hand for
this purpose by national banks is called a "reserve,"-a "lawful money
reserve,"-and it may be held in cash, or it may be, in turn, deposited
.with some correspondent banks in certain large cities, called "reserve
agents," where it is, of course, subject to be drawn out by draft at any
time, and used as cash. In the case of banks in Newport, the law re-
quires that the lawful money reserve of a bank shall be, at least, 15
per cent. of the deposits and its circulating notes or currency which it
issues. Another rule laid down in the banking act is that the total
indebtedness of any person or firm to a national bank shall not exceed
one-tenth of the capital stock of the bank. The capital stock of the
First National Bank of Newport was $200,000, so that no person could
borrow more than $20,000 from that bank without a breach of this
regulation.
As already stated, violations of these rules are not punished as .

crimes, but it is left to the comptroller to enforce them by an exercise
.of the supervisory power intrusted to him by law. The national bank
ing act statute does, however, denounce as crimes certain acts of bank-
ing officers, in order to secure fidelity and honesty on their part in the
performance of the duties and the discharge of the trusts assumed by
them, and in order to obtain from them a truthful statement of the
condition of the bank in their charge. Section 5209 of the Revised
Statutes of the United States provides that every president, director,
cashier, teller, clerk, or agent of a national bank who embezzles, ab-
stracts, or willfully misapplies any of the money, funds, or credits of the
association, or who makes any false entry in any book, report, or state-
ment of the association with intent to defraud the bank or any other
person, or with intent to deceive any officer of the bank or any agent
appointed to examine the affairs of the bank, shall be deemed guilty of
a crime, and be punished by imprisonment in the penitentiary. The
indictment of the defendant which you are to try charges him with
violating this section. The grand jury, in charging an offeD;se, is
entitled to describe it in as many ways as it sees fit, in different counts,
in order to make sure that the proof produced on the trial will cor-
respond with the description of the offense in some one of them. But
one punishment, however, is imposed for the same offense, however
many the forms in which it is described. The grand jury is also en-
titled to embrace in one indictment charges of different and distinct
offenses committed by the defendant, of a similar nature.
Coming now to the indictment in this case: It embraces 27

counts. Of these, the twenty-sixth and twenty-seventh are out of
the case, and you may acquit the defendant on them. Of the oth-
ers, the first six counts relate to one transaction, of date Decem-
ber 12, 1894. The charge in all six counts is substantially that the
defendant, being cashier, converted notes of A. S. Berry, belonging
to the bank, and aggregating some $15,000 in amount, to his own
use, and to the use of Berry, without the knowledge or consent of
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the directors or the exchange committee, and with the intent to
injure and defraud the bank. In the first count the act is charged
to have been an embezzlement by the defendant of the notes in
his custody as cashier; in the second count it is charged as a will-
ful abstraction of the notes; and in the third count, as a willful
misapplication of the notes. Embezzlement is the unlawful con-
version by an officer of the bank to his own use of funds intrusted
to him, with intent to injure or defraud the bank. Abstraction and
misapplication are a conversion to his own use by an officer of the
bank of funds of the bank which are not especially intrusted to his
care. The next three counts, Nos. 4, 5, and 6,-one for embezzle-
ment, one for abstraction, and one for misapplication,-differ from
the first three in that they set forth the method in detail by
which the conversion of the notes is charged to have been effected.
They aver that defendant procured one J. L. Bryan to execute a
note to the bank of $15,732, and gave him credit for the same in
an account on the books of the bank; that he then caused said
credit to be transferred to defendant's own account, by a charge
of the same against Bryan, and a credit to himself; and that he
then drew a check on his own account, payable to the bank, for the
same sum, and in this way purported to pay the Berry notes, and
withdrew them from the bank; that he knew Bryan to be insol·
vent, and the collateral attached to the Bryan notes, being $25,000
par value of Ft. Thomas Land Company's stock, to be worthless;
and that defendant did all this with intent to injure and defraud
the bank. The next six counts, from the seventh to the twelfth,
inclusive, relate to a transaction of December 11, 1894,-the'day
before. The charge in each of them is substantially that defendant,
being cashier of this bank, converted notes of A. S. Berry and the
Newport Ferry Company,-two notes of the Newport Ferry Com-
pany, and five notes of A. S. Berry,-belonging to the bank, amount-
ing to about $30,000, to his own use, and to the use of Berry and
the ferry company, without the knowledge or consent of the di-
rectors or of the exchange committee, and with intent to injure and
defraud the bank. In the seventh count the act is charged as an
embezzlement; in the eighth, as willful abstraction; in the ninth,
as willful misapplication. The next three counts vary as the pre-
vious three, but they are more elaborate, in that they set out in
detail the method by which the alleged crime was committed.
'rhey aver that the defendant procured one E. W. Nickerson and
H. C. Drake each to execute a note for about $15,000; that he then
gave them credit on the books of the bank for the amount of these
notes, respectively; that he then caused these credits to be trans-
ferred to his own account, by charges against Nickerson and Drake,
and that he then drew a check against this credit in favor of the
bank, and in this way purported to pay the second series of Berry
notes, for $30,000; that when he did this he knew that Berry was
solvent, and his notes were good, and that Nicl;;:erson and Drake
were insolvent, and that the collateral attached to the notes signed
by them, which aggregated $30,000 par value of Jacobs Additional
Land Company's stock, was worth but 25 per cent. of its par value;
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and that' defendant did all this with intent to injure or defraud the
bank.' The next six counts,.from the thirteenth to the eighteenth
counts, inclusive, relate toa transaction of December 14, 1894.
The charge in each of them, substantially, is that 'defendant, being
cashier of the bank, converted notes made by himself, and belong-
ing to the bank, amounting to something less than $15,000, to his
own use, without the knowledge of the bank directors and exchange
committee. In the thirteenth count the act is charged as an em-
bezzlement of the note then being in the custody of the defendant
as cashier; in the fourteenth count it is charged as an abstraction;
and in' the fifteenth count, as a misapplication of the note. The
next three counts vary as the previous three c<mnts; but they are
more elaborate, in that. they set out in detail the method by which
the embezzlement, abstraction, or was committed.
They aver that the defendant procured one C. G. Mason to execute
a note to the' bank for about $15,000; that he then caused the
amount of the note to be credited to Mason, and caused the credit
to be transferred to defendant's individual account; that he then
checked the same out of the bank, and purported to pay the de-
fendant's note; that he did this knowing that his own note was
good, and that Mason was insolvent, and that $25,000 par value of
Ft.. Thomas Land Company's stock, attached as collateral to the
Mason note, was worthless; and that all this was done by defendant
without the knowledge Or consent of the bank directors or exchange
committee, and with the intent to injure or defraud the bank. This
series of transactions makes about one-half of the case; and I
shall now state the propositions of law which should govern you
in applying the evidence to these charges, and in determining
whether the guilt of the defendant has been established.
In the first place, the law presumes that persons charged with

crime are innocent until they are proven by competent evidence to
be guilty. To the benefit of this presumption of innocence the de-
fendant ,is entitled; and this presumption stands as his sufficient
protection, unless it has been removed by evidence proving his guilt
beyond a reasonable doubt. The burden is on the government, be·
fore the defendant can be convicted, of establishing every essential
element of the crime charged, beyond a doubt. A rea-
sonable doubt of guilt is a doubt growing reasonably out of the evi-
dence, or the lack of it. It is not a captious doubt; not a doubt
engendered merely by sympathy for the unfortunate position of the
defendant, or.a dislike to accept the responsibility of convicting a
fellow man. If, having weighed the evidence on both sides, you
reach the conclusion that the defendant is guilty to that decree of
certainty that would lead you to act on the faith of it in the most
important and critical affairs of your life, you may properly convict
him. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is not proof to a mathe-
matical demonstration. It is not proof beyond the possibility of
mistake. If. such were the standard of evidence required, most
criminals would go unwhipped of justice.
Having defined the degree of proof required to establish every

necessary element of the crime charged, I come now to point out to



UNITED STATES V. YOUTSEY. 869

you what are the essential elements of the three crimes charged in
the first 18 counts, which must be established beyond a reasonable
doubt if you should return the defendant guilty on anyone of them.
First, it must appear that this was a national bank, and that the
defendant was its cashier; second, it must appear that the defend-
ant converted the notes of Berry and himself to his own use and
that of Berry; third, it must appear that he did this without the
consent or knowledge of the board of directors or its exchange com-
mittee; fourth, it must appear that he intended by such conver-
sion to injure or defraud the bank. In the embezzlement counts it
must also appear that the notes charged to have been embezzled
were intrusted by the bank to him as cashier. It is not disputed
that this was a national bank, or that the defendant was its cash-
ier at the dates of the transactions under inquiry. It is not dis-
puted that the Berry notes, the ferry company notes, and the Yout-
sey notes passed from the possession of the bank to Berry and
Youtsey, respectively, and inured to the benefit of Berry and Yout-
sey; nor is it disputed that at the same time the Bryan, Nicker-
son, Drake, and Mason notes came into the bank, and that the
books of the bank show that the proeeeds of the ,Bryan, Nickerson,
Drake, and Mason notes were used by Youtsey to pay the Berry,
ferry company, and Youtsey notes, and that the transactions were
all carried through by the defendant. The .question at issue be-
tween the government and the defendant is whether this was a
genuine transaction,-a real discount of the Bryan and the other
notes for cash, and the use of the cash to pay the Berry and Yout-
sey notes; or whether this was a mere palpable substitution of
worthless paper for good paper, bearing the semblance of discount,
but in reality being a mere cloak for slipping good paper of Berry
and defendant out of the bank, and leaving in its place notes of
little or no value. I shall allude to this issue more at length in
the discussion of the evidence; but I pass on now to consider the
ultimate facts which the government must establish, and on which
the issue just stated has an important bearing.
The first point in issue is whether the government has established

beyond reasonable doubt that what Youtsey did with respect to the
Berry and Youtsey notes, and the Bryan, Nickerson, Drake, and
Mason notes, was not known to the board of directors or to the
exchange committee, and consented to· by them at or before the
time when it was done, on December 12, 13, and 14, 1894. If the
board or the exchange committee authorized him to discount the
four notes which appear to have been discounted, it would not have
been a crime on his part to have persuaded the makers of the notes.
to allow him to use the proceeds to pay his own indebtedness. In
that case, if the bank was injured, it would have been with its own
consent, expressed through its governitlg board. If the board or
the exchange committee consented to the substitution of the new
notes for the old notes, certainly the defendant could not be held
under this indictment. On the other hand, it is sufficient with re-
spect to this issue if the government has \l;hown to your satisfac-
tion, beyond a reasonable doubt, ,that neither the board of directors
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as a board, nor the exchange committee as a committee, nor a
majority of either as individuals, knew of or consented to the dis-
count of the new notes, or the substitution of the new notes for
the old (if that was the real trapsaction), before the transaction
was a completed one, and before the Berry and Youtsey notes were
gone from the bank. Evidence as to the knowledge of the directors
of the Bryan and the other notes after the Berry and Youtsey notes
were gone was only permitted as reflecting upon the question wheth-
er the directors knew how the notes came into the bank when they
did come in. The fact in issue is, did they know of the first re-
ception of these no·tes at the time they were received? Did they
consent to their reception and discount at the time the Berry and
Youtsey notes were taken out? If they did, the defendant must go
acquit on these charges; If they did not, it is no defense that they
may have afterwards learned of the transaction, or of the presence
of the notes in the bank. The principle on which rests the re-
quirement that the government shall show that there was no con-
sent by the board of directors to the defendant's. acts before convic-
tion is that one cannot steal what is given him, and cannot em-
bezzle that which his principal consents that he may take. The
question here really is, did the bank consent, by its governing board
or its exchange committee, to the acts of Youtsey, which are char-
ged to be criminal, before they were done, or at the time? If so,
then he cannot be held on these charges.
As to the second point in issue, which is the intent to defraud or

injure the bank, necessary to establish the crime: It is not a
crime for a cashier to discount bad paper, or accept for collateral
worthless securities, unless the act is accompanied by an intent to
defraud the bank. That must appear affirmatively. By way of
inducement to show the intent, the indictment avers that Bryan
was insolvent, and that the collateral was worthless, and that the
defendant knew these facts. If you find that Bryan and the others
were insolvent, and that the collateral to each of the notes was
worthless, or worth much less than the face value of the note,-
if you find that the defendant knew that the Berry and ferry com-
pany and Youtsey notes were good, that Bryan and the others were
insolvent, and that the collateral was worth much less than the
notes it purported to secure, and that he did not believe either that
Bryan and the others would pay the notes they had signed, or that
the collateral was of value sufficient to pay the notes,-the pre·
sumption is that the defendant intended the natural consequences
of his own act, and therefO're intended to injure or defraud the
bank, though this presumption is not conclusive; and it is for you
to determine from the circumstances this presumption is
maintained or rebutted; and, if you do not beyond a reasonable
doubt think that the presuinption is the right one, then it is YOUT'
duty to acquit. And, if this be true,-what I have already stated
with reference to the belief of the defendant and his knowledge,-
the presumption of intent to defraud or injure the bank would not
necessarily be negativetf because there may also have been present
another motive, and that the chief one, if they were substitutions.
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to wit, the purpose to make it appear to the comptroller that Berry
and the defendant had paid their notes, if in fact the defendant
knew that what he did would injure the bank. Of course, if he did
not believe that he was going to injure or defraud the bank by
these transactions, and had only the single purpose to comply with
the comptroller's directions by transferring the debt from himself
and Berry to others, without prejudice to the bank, then you could
not find the intent to defraud, even if the sequel was in fact dis-
astrous to the bank. But his desire to avoid the further criticism
of the comptroller by making the debt appear in the names of others
would not necessarily exclude the intent to defraud if you find that
he really believed that what he was doing was taking from the bank
something of value, and replacing it with something comparatively
worthless. The intent to defraud is not necessarily an intent to
wreck the bank. It may be only an intent for his own purposes to
injure the bank by the particular transaction, and may consist with
a desire generally that the bank in other respects shall prosper.
Evidence has been introduced to show that the defendant has been

afflicted for some years last past with occasional attacks of epilepsy,
and it has been stated by witnesses, medical and otherwise, that such
attacks render the patient entirely unconscious for a short time, and
take' from him the normal use of his mental faculties, especially his
memory, for a greater or less period immediately following each at-
tack, even after consciousness has apparently returned, and that dur-
ing this period he could hardly be said to distinguish between right
and wrong. There was also evidence to show that such attacks
have a tendency to impair the subject's mental faculties permanently,
and especially his memory and his judgment. Now, one who can-
not distinguish between right and wrong by reason of a diseased
mind cannot be convicted of crime for an act done by him when in
that mental state. The presumption is that all men are sane; but
if, in the face of that presumption, the evidence is sufficient to raise
a reasonable doubt in your mind that, at the time any act was com-
mitted by the defendant which is made the subject of the charge
here, he was not able to distinguish between right and wrong,
it is your duty to acquit him of that charge. .You may also con-
sider the mental condition of the defendant, though short of insanity,
as a circumstance in reaching a conclusion whether he had the intent
or knowledge essential to be proven in the conviction of any or all
of the charges in this indictment. In considering the mental condition
of the defendant at any time, you are not confined to the medical evi·
dence or to direct evidence of his mental condition; but you should
also consider the surrounding circumstances, the work actually done
by the defendant, the mental strength necessarily required, if any,
to do the work he did, and the probability or improbability that one
engaged in the discharge of the duties of his office and the carrying on
of his severa! enterprises could be mentally unsound to any appreciable
extent, either in memory, in judgment, or in ability to distinguish be-
tween right and wrong, and still be permitted by his friends to continue
in charge of the bank and other business transactions of importance.
The mental condition of the defendant which is important here is
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that 1894, apd in the year following. His later condi-
tion, reflecting Q,n the evidential weight to be given to his con-
versationswith Hayes alld. Wilshire, is not especially material. It
may indicate the progress of the disease, and throw a backward light
on its histQfy;but the is, what was·the mental condition
of the defendant in 1894 a,nd 1895, two or three years before the fail-
ure of the blink, and one or two years after the violent fits of epilepsy
first began. to seize him? ;1 shall allude to this subject again when I
discuss the false entry charges. ,
And now, gentlemen of the Jury, I have concluded my charge upon

the law in respect to the flrst 18 counts, and I come to a hasty review
of the facts. You are the. sole judges of the facts. The responsibility
is wholly with you. In the federal courts, however, it is within the
proper sphere of the judge to assist the jury,. so far as he is able,
in analyzing. the facts and stating the issues which arise thereon,
provided he makes it wish to make it clear to you, that you
are the sole judges of the and are entirely warranted in rejecting
my recollection of the testimony, and in declining to accept any sugges-
tion 1 may make in regard to it. .
Upon the issue of the knowledge of the directors of the discount of

the four notes of Bryan andthe others, the gover,nment has introductJ
every director who was. a director in December, 1894, and each director
has said with more or less.pol3itiveness that he· never heard of these
nO,tes until some time after they were in the bank. Mr. Robson said
he heard of one of the ,notea some time in December. Whether that
was before or after may not be clear; 1 mean, before or after they came
into the bank. Spinks and McCracken, the exchange committee. for
that month, are quite sure that they never approved them as a com-
mittee. For the defendant it is pointed out that the ,notes were regu-
larly entered on the discou,nt register and the· othet" books, and that it
was open to the directors!· and especially to the eXchange committee
and to the president, Dr. Gunkel. I may say, in passing, that the
fact that these notes were all set out on tlle books of the bank, and
also their renewals, is put before you as a significant circumstance that
the defendant had nothing to conceal with respect to them. Whether
this grew out of a security that the defendant had with ref·
erence to his control of the directors, or grew out of a feeling of innl>-
cence on his part that he had not done anything wrong, is a matter for
your consideration. Thedefendant further, with respect to the knowl-
edge of the directors, points out that this was at a critical time in the
history of the bank, when especial attention had been called by the
comptroller to the Berry and Youtsey notes, and that their payment or
removal from the bank was very likely to direct attention to the mode
in which they were withdrawn; that the four new notes were for
$60,000 in the aggregate, and were quite likely to invite the attention
of anyone giving the slightest perusal to the discount register. For
the government it is responded that the board of direc(ors was not
made up of bright business men, but of men with little or no banking
experience, and of not startlingly keen perceptions, and that they all
looked to and leaned on Youtsey in spite of the warning they had re-
ceived from Washington. The only direct evidence that any ODe
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of the directors knew of the discount of any of the notes at the time
is Drake's statement that he told Gunkel of Youtsey's proposal to him
in respect to the note to be given. Gunkel remembers the conver-
sation, but says that Drake merely asked him whether Youtsey was
good financially. Both agree that Youtsey had referred Drake to
Gunkel; and this is entitled to weight in considering whether Yout-
sey was attempting to conceal what he was doing from Gunkel. It is
the duty of the jury and the court to reconcile conflicting statements
when they can; and one relevant query in this case, therefore, would
seem to be whether Drake may not have said one thing, and Gunkel
understood another. You have seen them both on the stand, however,
and you can judge. Even if Gunkel knew of the Drake note, however,
this would not be the knowledge or consent of the board or the ex-
change committee, unless notice of the fact was communicated by
Gunkel to his directors or fellow members. It was brought out in
cross-examination of some of the directors and of the employes of the
bank that the cashier did discounting at hours when the exchange
committee was not in session; and there is also some evidence that
the discount register was not always taken by the exchange commit-
tee. Some of the evidence seems to show that they took the discount
register, and examined it more closely, towards the tatter part ,of
the bank's existence. The question which you have to answer is
whether Youtsey had an opportunity to take in the notes without
consulting any of the directors, and, having the opportunity, whether
he improved it. Was his position in the bank such that he would
feel able to carry out a plan like the one under discussion, without
fear that after the thing had been done, and his directors gradually
became aware of it, he could be reasonably sure that they would not
attempt to undo it? You must, in considering this question, give
weight to all the surrounding circumstances, and credit statements
where you can, rejecting only that which is inherently improbable.
And now as to the intent: This is naturally arrived at by study-

ing the transactions closely. Were these discounts real, genuine
transactions, by which the makers of the notes got the cash, and
then turned it over to Youtsey, or were they merely part of a scheme
to give the appearance of business transactions as a cloak to a mere
substitution of new paper for old, the new papers to be signed by
those wh'Ose insolvency rendered them free from embarrassment in
assuming a large obligation? You have heard the evidence of
Bryan, Nickerson, Drake, and Mason, and will make up your mind
as to Youtsey's purpose in the matter of his con'versation with them
and from other circumstances. If the collateral which he put up
on each note he believed honestly was ample security for each note,
when it or its renewals should become due, it would be strong ground
for concluding that his motive here was not to injure or defraud the
bank, but only to help it out by from the disciplinary
measures which the comptroller might take with -it were the Berry
and Youtsey notes to continue in the bank.
As to the value of this security you have heard much evidence.

The actual sale of the stock, of which Youtsey was aware, was from
50 to 60 cents on the donal' for the Jacobs addition, and from 25 to
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33 cents on the dollar for Ft. Thomas. 'l'he stocks had no market
value, the evidence seems to show; but the witnesses give their judg-
ment from their knowledge of the property that the Jacobs addi-
tion was worth par, and the Ft. Thomas Land Company stock from
50 cents to par. If the Jacobs addition stock was worth 50 cents
only, the collateral would not pay-I mean the collaterals on those
notes secured by it-more than half the notes it secured. If the
Ft. Thomas was worth but 25 cents,-for which Youtsey and two
others sold some of it, in November, 1894,-it would not pay one-
half of the notes it secured. But the question is not what we think
about the stocks when they seem to be unsalable, but what were
they worth in 1894, and what did Youtsey really believe they were
worth? The panic occurred in the spring of 1893, some 18 months
before the transaction. It is said to have had little effect on land at
first. How that is you must judge. In considering what Youtsey
really believed as to this stock, as collateral, you may consider that
he discounting notes for four months as a banker. If he was
discounting them as a banker, and if he did discount them, you may
properly ask yourselves whether he thought this was good collat·
eral to realize on in that short time, when it had no market value.
However, it is all a question of his honest belief; and if, by re-
newals, he really believed that it would pay the debt, you must
give him the benefit of that fact in determining his intent in the
matter, and, finding it in the affirmative, acquit him,-that is, if you
do find it in the affirmative. You may also give such weight as you
think it ought to have, as bearing on his honest belief and purpose in
this matter, to the evidence concerning his epilepsy, and its influ-
ence on his judgment, in 1894. Nickerson, Bryan, and Drake were
all insolvent, so they testify. Nickerson says he told Youtsey that he
was, and as Bryan and Drake were mere clerks, and hardly more
than 21 years of age, it would hardly seem reasonable that Youtsey
regarded them in any other light. Mason's statement you must
weigh as best you can. If you believe him not to be mistaken, he
was solvent. His account of the stock transaction is hardly con-
sistent with Youtsey's report of his obligation to pay the Mason note,
made to Wilshire, according to .vVilshire's statement; but he was
introduced by the government, and the party introducing a witness
is usually supposed to vouch for his veracity. However, you must
judge of him as you saw him and heard him.
With this very hasty review of the evidence, leaving out many of

the circumstances which you must properly consider on the Berry
and Youtsey note transaction, I leave them to you, after reminding
you again that you are the sole judges of the facts, and that no
statement of mine, either as to what the evidence is or what its
effect is, ought to control you, if it does not accord with your rec-
ollection or your judgment.
And now, gentlemen, having finished the discussion of the law and

evidence under the first 18 counts, and the Berry and Youtsey notes
transactions, we come to the counts which charge the defendant with
making, or causing to be made, false entries upon a blotter of the
bank and the report to the comptroller of the currency, with the in-
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tent to deceive the directors of the bank or the agent of the comp-
troller. The nineteenth, twentieth, twenty-first, and twenty-second
counts are based on the four entries made in the blotter, in accordance
with the slip handed to Winter by Phillips, by which it is said that
the account of the First National Bank of Cincinnati was made to
show a balance of $25,000 to the credit of the Newport Bank, when
the account, if truly stated, would have shown a balance of $25,000
to the credit of the Third National Bank. The entries are four. The
first is an entry showing an addition to the deposits of $12,500; the
second, an entry charging the Third National Bank with $12,500; the
third, an entry showing a reduction in bills discount, held by the New-
port Bank, by sale, payment, or renewal; and the fourth, a charge
against the Third National of $38,775.56. The twenty-third, twenty-
fourth, and twenty-fifth counts charge that false entries were made, or
caused to be made, in the report to the comptroller by the defendant,
with intent to deceive the directors of the bank and any agent of the
comptroller, by which the amount due from the reserve agents was
increased from $3,206.87, as it should have been, to $30,029.95; the
amount of legal tender notes was increased from $27,642, as it really
was, to $47,642 (the indictment says from $17,642, but I assume that
that was a mistake; at any rate, it is immaterial); and the amount
due to reserve agents was decreased from $24,968.25, the proper and
true amount, to $516,27,-that is the amount due from the Newport
Bank to the First National Bank of New York. The defendant can-
not be convicted under these seven counts unless it is first shown that
he made them, or caused them to be made. If the defendant directed
Phillips to increase the reserve $50,000, by making entries on the
books of the bank which would falsely show that the Third National
Bank owed defendant's bank $25,000, instead of the defendant's bank
owing the Third National Bank $25,000, as the fact was, and Phillips
made entries effecting such result, the defendant is responsible for
the making of those entries, under this indictment, exactly as if he
had made them with his own hand. If the defendant wrote out the
report to the comptroller, and directed Winters to copy same, and the
copy was sworn to, and became the report, the defendant is as respon-
sible under the indictment for the false entries made therein as if he
had made them with his own pen. The defendant cannot be con-
victed under these counts, unless it appears beyond reasonable doubt
that, by such false entries, he intended to deceive either the directors
of his bank or the agent of the comptroller. If, however, he knew the
entries were false, he must be presumed to have intended the natural
consequences of his act; and therefore, if the report was calculated to
deceive those reading it, he must be presumed to have intended to
deceive those to whom the report would come. The presumption iii!
not conclusive, but it is the natural one.
And now I come to the evidence as to the false entries. If you do

not believe that Phillips went to Youtsey's house on the evening of
December 7th, Saturday, and had the conversation he reports, then yOIl
must acquit the defendant on the nineteenth, twentieth, twenty-first,
and twp-nty-second counts, for his guilt rests solely on that conversa·
tion. Now, did it occur? Phillips says it did. He is a confessed
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aQcomplice of Youtsey in the alleged crime, if it was committed by
both; and it is the duty of courts and juries to accept the statements
of accomplices with caution; but, if it did not occur, the questions
which arise are two: Why did he make the false entries as to which
there seems to be no doubt? And, second, why does he take the
stand, and expose himself to the necessary obloquy which his confession
involves? The answers suggested to these queries are that he has a
present motive to testify falsely against Youtsey to save himself from
prosecution, and that he had motive enough to save the bank from the
comptroller by making false entries because he owned 40 shares of its
stock. The weight of thesesnggestions you must consider. Phillips
is corroborated by "Winter's statement that he asked Youtsey twice
whether the $38,000 charged to the Third National Bank was all right,
-during the week after December 8th,-and that Youtsey answered
that it was, or that he knew about it; and by Hayes' account of Yout-
sey's assumption of all responsibility for these false entries in April 01'
May, 1897. Opposed to this is the statement of Miss Hopkins, the de-
fendant's sister-in-law, and T. 0; Youtsey, his son, that defendant had
had an epileptic fit on Friday, December 6, 1895, and was at home all
that day aM all day Saturday, and that Phillips did not come to the
house and talk with defendant, as he says he did. You may estimate
the weight this evidence in the light of the difficulty that one would
naturally have in being entirely clear as to what happened two years
ago on a particular SaturdaY,-what happened' two years ago on a
particular Saturday in respect to a matter which WlU! then of less inter-
est than now ;a])(", on the .other hand, may consider the circumstan-
ces then existing which might serve to have fixed the events of the day
more clearly than usual in the mind of the witnesses, such as the fit
of the day. before, and other things. It is your duty to reconcile, as
far as you can, conflicting statements of witnesses; and the question
for you here is whether it is more reasonable to suppose that these
two witnesses are mistaken!n their statements than that Phillips has
committed wjllful perjury, because he can hardly be mistaken. How-
ever, if the evidence of Miss Bopkins and young Youtsey raises a rea-
sonable douQtin your minds as to Phillips' visit, you must give the de-
fendant the benefit of it, and acquit him on these four charges in rela-
tion to false. ,entries in the blotter. If, however, you believe that
Phillips did go to see the defendant, you must consider whether he was
in a condition of mind to know what he was doing, and to distinguish
right from wrong. He had had an epileptic fit 36 hours before. Did
that, in 1895, unfit him to transact business? You know the evi·
dence. It appears that he not infrequently went to the bank the same
day that he had the fit, and remained some time. . It is said that he
was not himself on such occasions. If, however, on Saturday night,
he had the mind to conceive the plan to call Phillips to him, and direct
the course which, PhiIliP$ took, it would be a circumstance tending to
show that the, confusion consequent upon such a fit had left him. .If,
however, you have a reasonable doubt of his sanity, and his ability

, to distinguish between riglJ.t and wrong at that time, you ought to ac-
quithiD;lon counts 19, 20,21, and 22. But, if you find that he did have
the talk.with PhiIIipswhkb Phillips says he had, then you must con-
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sider what it meant, and how far it involved the defendant in the crimes
charged against him in counts from Nos. 19 to 22, inclusive.
In the outset, I called your attention to the requirement of the na-

tional banking act, that this bank must always have on hand cash equal
in amount to 15 per cent. of the money which its depositors had left
with it, and 15 per cent. of the bank notes or currency which, under
, the law, it was permitted to issue. This, as you will see, is a very nec-
essary rule, because otherwise, if a bank lent out on interest all the
money deposited by its depositors as soon as it came in, it might very
well happen that some depositors might wish to draw out on
more than others had put in, and there would be no money to pay them.
Hence the importance of maintaining a lawful money reserve. When,
however, the bank has loaned more money than it should loan to cer-
tain individuals, who either will not or cannot pay up, there is some-
times great difficulty in keeping cash enough on hand to meet this regu-
lation of law. The letters of the comptroller read in evidence here
show that this was one of the great difficulties under which this bank
was laboring, and that it was largely due to the slowness' with which
many of those who borrowed money of it paid their notes. Let us
assume that the lawful money reserve of a bank is' $75,000, and it has
loaned out on notes $50,OpO. Now, suppose it has on hand cash amount-
ing only to $50,000, instead of the required $75,000. Now, the natural
way to make that lawful reserve good is for the bank to collect $25,000
of its loans, and make its cash up to $75,000. But perhaps its notes
are not due to that extent. Well, it can sell notes outright to some
other bank for $25,000; and, by putting on the back of the notes
the words "Without recourse," it can rid itself of any liability on thoSe
notes, and. in this way can get the money without assuming any obli-
gation; or it can rediscount notes to the extent of $25,000 with some
other bank,-that is, it can indorse the notes, and transfer them to the
other bank, agreeing by its indorsement to pay the notes thus trans-
ferred if the makers of the notes do not. The rediscount is, in a sense,
a loan. I have already said to you that the lawful money reserve
need not all be kept in the vaults of the bank. It can be deposited
with another bank, called its "reserve agent"; that is, its agent for
holding part of its reserve. Now, then, if the notes which are sold
or rediscounted are sold or rediscounted to the reserve agent bank,
that bank need not send the cash to our bank's vaults; it can just
enter up a credit of that amount on its books, to he drawn against
by our bank on checks or drafts; and it is just as much a part of the
lawful money reserve as if it were in our vaults. Thus, you see, the
account between a bank and its reserve agent plays a very important
part in the question of lawful money reserve. If, by entries in this
account, the bank shows that it has sold notes to its reserve agent, and
has obtained a credit in this account to the amount of the notes, when
in fact it has not done so, it has made a false entry, which indicates
that it has more in its lawful money reserve by thp amount of the
notes than it really has.
With this explanation, let us construe the meaning of Phillips' evi-

dence. He says that the defendant told him, by entries on the books
of the Newport Bank, to change the account between it and the Third
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National Bank in such a way that the account would show that the
Third National Bank owed the Newport Bank $25,000, instead of the
Newport Bank's owing the Third National Bank $25,000, as it really
did. In this way, you observe, the lawful money reserve- of the
Newport Bank would be increased $25,000 apparently, while the
acrount would be made false by $50,000. Now, what did Phillips do?
He made one entry, he says, which purported to show that Spinks had
deposited a check for $12,500 in the Newport Bank, when in fact he
had not; that is, the deposit account ofchecks deposited was increased.
This was false. He made another to show that the Newport Bank had
sent this check to the Third National Bank, and had received a credit
of $12,500 for it, In this way he represented by these two entries
that the bank ha,d more assets of money and notes together than
it really had. In addition to this, he made an entry showing that
the Newport Bank had turned into cash, by sale or collection, $38,775
of tts notes, and another entry showing that this amount had been
deposited to .the credit of the Newport Bank with the Third National
Bank. As a matter of fact, it had not turned into cash, by sale or col-
lection, any of its notes; so Phillips testifies, and so the books show.
In this way he the Newport Bank a credit of $50,000 with the
Third National Bank which it did not have,. and brought up its ap-
parent money reserve, as shown by its books, by, at least, $25,000.
Phillips says this was done with a view to the report to the comptroller,
as suggested by Youtsey, which it was expected the bank would have
to make in a short time thereafter, of the condition of the bank, and
which it did have to make in fact, as of the condition of business, on
December 13th, about a week later. In this report the entries di-
rected by PhiJlips necessarily had the effect of increasing the lawful
money reserve by, at least, $25,000. I mean the effect of the entries
in the blotter, carried into the other books of the bank, increased the
lawful reserve on the report to the comptroller as of the 13th of De-
cember.
Now, it is pointed out on behalf of the defendant that, even if it be

true that Phillips had the talk he says he had with defendant on the
evening of December 7th, the defendant did not tell him to introduce
a false entry as to a deposit of a check by Spinks to the amount
of $12,500, and, therefore, that he cannot be held responsible for
that entry, and its counter charge of the same amount to the Third
National Bank. Whether this is true is for you to determine,-whether
what he did was within the directions which he says were given to him.
Phillips says defendant told him to make entries changing the balance
in favor of the Third National Bank, and against the Newport Bank,
so that it should be a credit of $25,000, instead of a debit of $25,000.
That involved false entries to the extent of $50,000, and the Spinks
entries were used by Phillips to make up $12,500 of the change of
$50,000. If this went beyond the suggestion of the defendant, and
was not within his general directions, he cannot be made responsible
for Phillips' acts in respect to the Spinks entries; and you must say
how that is.
H is further claimed on behalf of the defendant that the condition

of. the account between the two banks was such that the defendant
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might very well have had no intent to deceive in suggesting a change
of $50,000 from one side to the other of the account. On November
22 and November 23,1895, the Newport Bank, through Youtsey, depos-
ited, as general collateral to secure overdrafts, $50,000 in round num-
bers in notes indorsed by it; and these were still in the Third National
Bank when Youtsey is said to have directed the entries. Youtsey
had authority from the board of directors to rediscount paper at the
Third National Bank, and the claim made in his behalf is that he in-
tended to rediscount this collateral in the Third National Bank, or
sell it to the Third National Bank, and in that way at once make good
the false entry of $50,000 which he is said by Phillips to have directed.
If this had been done when he returned to the bank, or shortly after,
it would certainly have a very strong tendency to show that, though
the entry was false, it was not meant to deceive anybody. You will
observe that the contention assumes that he might have rediscounted
the notes he had with the Third National Bank by merely asking for
it. The sequel would hardly seem to support this assumption, because
in January, 1896, following the December, 1895, when this took place,
the Third National Bank, in rediscounting $40,000 of the bills dis·
count of the Newport Bank, required the directors of the Newport
Bank to sign a bond for $50,000 as security. Again, if Youtsey
had intended such a disposition of the entries, you may inquire of your·
selves why the entry of $38,775.56 of a false charge to the Third Na·
tional Bank remained in the books and accounts of the Newport Bank
until March 14, 1896, some three months later, as Winter points out
in the book. Winter says that the defendant was figuring from the
books every day how the Newport Bank was standing with the other
banks. Had a rediscount of the collateral notes with the Third
National Bank been intended, the notes would have had to appear in
the rediscount column of the report to the comptroller as a liability of
the Newport Bank; whereas the entry as made and as allowed to re-
main on the books of the bank was that of a payment of the notes,
or a sale of them, without any liability remaining on the part of the
Newport Bank in respect of the notes thus sold. If the defendant
did not intend the entry to be false, you may properly consider why
he did not rectify it as soon as he returned to the bank if he had his
attention called to it by Winter, as Winter states; or why, if he in-
tended a rediscount of paper, he did not go to the Third National
Bank, and make the entry true, which, as it stands, has nothing to
justify it. But it is said that the false entry was most foolish, be·
cause so easily discovered by the comptroller or his agent. The length
of time the entry remained on the books without detection by the
comptroller would seem to indicate that it was not so easy of discovely
as has been suggested. Still, if the presence of $50,000 of collateral
in the hands of the Third National Bank from the Newport Bank at
the time this entry was made raises a reasonable doubt in your mind
as to the intent of Youtsey to deceive the comptroller in respect to
this entry, you must acquit him of this charge. In respect to my
suggestions on this charge I wish to repeat that you may properly re- .
ject them if they strike you as of no weight. You are the sole judges
of the fact, and yours is the responsibility. As to the $12,500 item,
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does "not say that'Youtsey told him about that.
Ydu1:tley,he says, only told him to make a change 'Of $50,000, and he
used the $12,500, adding it to deposits, and charging the Third Na-
tionalBank with it, in order to make up the $50,000. The defend-
ant's relation to this is more remote than to the$38,000 item; but if
you credit Phillips, and think that the $12,500 item was reasonably
within the directions given, he is responsible for both.
Coming now to the twenty-third and twenty-fifth ('ounts, the false

entries charged against the defendant are both of them involved in the
false entries already referred to. If the defendant had no knowledge
of the Phillips entries, or if, by reason of impairment of his memory by
disease or for any other cause, you have a reasonable doubt that he did.
then he should be acquitted on these counts. If, however, you find
him guilty of directing those Phillips entries with intent to deceive,
you will have to consider the relation of the entries in the report to
the entries of December 7, 1895, and determine how great the proof,
if any,of his guilt upon these counts. .
The twenty-fourth count stands by itself. It relates to the item of

$47,000, legal tenders in the comptroller's report, which Hengelbrok
says was false, because he was counting as legal tender upon that day
a memorandum of an overdraft of Spinks for $20,000; that he began to
do this, by direction of the defendant,or. September 26th,after an argu-
ment with the defendant; that he expected payment of the overdraft
from to day; that defendant wished it counted because they were
expecting to be called on for a report in a few days, and he wished to
strengthen the cash; that there were constant calls over the telephone
upon Spinks to make the overdraft good, but that he did not .do so until

Did the defendant know that this was in the cash,-that
this overdraft was countedin the legal tender when he made the report?
He adopted, it is said by both Phillips and Hengelbrok, this method
of an overdraft, in order to· force Spinks to pay, and the pressure on
Spinks was daily. The natural question which suggests itself is: Is
it possible that the defendant would not have known whether that
overdraft was paid when he made his report in December,-the over-
draftbY'Spinks for $20,000, which he bftd himself directed to be car-
ried as a memorandum:1 If it is possible, then he should be acquit-
ted. however, he did know it, and yet caused it to be entered, an
entry of legal tenders which included that overdraft would be false;
and, iHal<lulated to decei've;it is to be presumed that defendant intend-
ed thena:tural consequences of his own act, though this presumption
is not conclusive.'
In conclusion, I wish to a:dd that the defendantis not on tri,ll1 for the

failureottbe'bank, nor for mismanagement of its affairs, nor for gen-
eral ldsllesof stockholders; 'but only for specific offenses charged in the
indictment; and the condition and management or mismanagement of
the bank are only to be considered as they reflect light upon and fur-_
nish a'm<ttive for or otherWise explain the acts' of the defendant and
the other parties to the transaction we have investigated.
And now, gentlemen of the jury, I am done. .I commit the case to

you, confident that you will do justice between the United States and
the prisoner at the ba-i\ He is most unfortunate' in his bodily and
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mental affliction. His family deserve the profound sympathy of every
one. If you shall find that either by reason of hismenb\l condition
when the acts here charged as crimes were committed, if they were com·
mitted, or by reason of affirmative evidence, you have a reasonable
doubt of his guilt on anyone charge, acquit him of it; but if he is guilty
on anyone charge, or more, his unfortunate condition or your natural-
sympathy for him should not and will not prevent you from doing your
duty, unpleasant as it will be. The case is in your hands. The clerk
will hand you forms of verdict.
The jury returned a verdict of guilty on every count, except the twenty-

sixth and twenty-seventh, as to which, in 'accordance with the instruction
of the court, the verdict was not guilty.

UNITED STATES v. LORING et al. l

(District Court, N. D. Illinois. January 2, 1884.)
1. POST OFFICES-POWER OF CONGRESS TO REGULATE USE OF MAILS-CRIMI-

NAL OFFENSES.
The constitutional power of congress to establish post offices and post

roads embraces the regulation of the entire postal system, and includes
as a necessary incident the right to determine what may be carried in
the mails, and what shall not be, and to impose penalties for the viola-
tion of its regulations to be enforced, through the courts, such as are
contained in Rev. St. § 5480.2

2. SAME-OFFENSE AGAINST POSTAL LAWS-INDICTMENT.
An indictment under Rev. St. § 5480, charging that defendants devised

a scheme to defraud by pretending to have establIshed a fund which they
designated as "Fund W," to be used for purposes of speculating, and by
soliciting the sending and intrusting to them of money for investment
in such fund, for the purpose and with the intent of converting such
money to their own use, in fraud of those sending it, in pursuance of
which scheme defendants placed letters and packets in a post office, or
received letters and packets from a post office, sufficiently informs the
defendants of the particular scheme relled on as fraudUlent, and also
enables the court to know that, if consummated as charged, such scheme
would result in the perpetration of a fraud.

8. SAME-GENERAL AVERMENTS OF INDICTMENT-OFFICE OF BILL OF PARTICU-
LARS.
An indictment under Rev. St. § 5480, is not insufficient as being too

general, because it avers that defendant placed in the po·st office letters
and packets addressed to persons to the grand jurors unknown, nor be-
cause it does not set out the contents of such letters or packets, the rem-
edy of defendants if they desire more specific information being by mo-
tion for a bill of particulars.

'- SAME-ESSENTIALS OF OFFENSE.
It is not necessary that the contents of letters charged to have been

placed in a post office in pursuance of a scheme to qefraud should show
the fraudulent character of the scheme, and hence such letters need
not be set out in an indictment. .

I This case has been heretofore reported in Pagin's Federal Precedents &
Forms, 225, and is now published in this series, so as to include therein all
circuit and district court cases elsewhere reported which have been inad-
vertently omitted from the Federal Reporter or the Federal Cases.

2 As to nonmailable matter in general, see note to Timmons v. United States,
30 C. C. A. 79.
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